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Defendants.

THE GRAND JURY CHARGES:

INTRODUCTION
THE ENTERPRISE
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At various times and material to this indictment:

1. Robert Arechiga, aka Robert; Valentin Ayala-Gutierrez, aka Pico; Enrique Bravo, aka
Green, aka Eddie, aka Bow; Jose Cerda; Juan Deluna, aka Juanillo; Ruben Esparza, aka Popo;
Francisco Galvan IIlI, aka Pancho; Alexander Garcia, aka Malo; Eric Gomez, aka Valla; Rene
Gonzalez, aka Beast; Adam Guzman, aka Ace; George Maldonado, aka Bird; Michael Anthony
Mares, aka Mikey; Jorge Montemayor; Johnny Reyes, aka Johnny Be Good; Carlos Romero, aka
Loc; Ricardo Sanchez, aka Ritchie, aka Joker; Juan Sarmientos, aka Juanillo, aka Juanito; Alvin
Valadez, aka Ace; Tony Valdez, aka Tony; Armando Villarreal III; Ernesto Villarreal, aka Crash;
Michael Villarreal, aka Little Wolf; Michael A. Villarreal; Gilbert Gonzalez and others, were
members and associates of a criminal organization in Houston, Texas known as the Texas Mexican
Mafia (“TMM?”), a prison gang whose members and associates engaged in drug trafficking and
conspiracy to do the same within the Southern District of Texas and elsewhere.

2. The TMM, including its leadership, members, and associates, constituted an “enterprise”
as defined in Title 18, United States Code, Section 1959(b)(2), that is, a group of individuals
associated in fact that was engaged in, and the activities of which affected, interstate and foreign
commerce. The enterprise constituted an ongoing organization whose members functioned as a
continuing unit for a common purpose of achieving the objectives of the enterprise.

3. The TMM enterprise, through its members and associates, engaged in racketeering activity
as defined in Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1959(b)(1) and 1961(1), that is, acts involving
conspiracy to commit murder in violation of Texas Penal Law and acts involving trafficking in
controlled substances in violation of Title 21, United States Code, Sections 841 and 846.

4. The TMM was formed in the early 1980’s by inmates incarcerated in the Texas state



prison system. Its original members banded together behind bars to protect one another from the
violence of incarcerated non-members and to engage more effectively in organized criminal activity.
This criminal activity included drug trafficking.

S. The original members of the TMM were largely from San Antonio, Texas. The TMM
drafted a “constitution” and declared San Antonio as its “Capital.”

6. The TMM's written constitution outlines all aspects of its criminal organization;
specifically the TMM "shall deal in drugs, contract killings, prostitution, large-scale robbery,
gambling, weapons, and everything imaginable." The constitution also stipulates that members
released from prison become "free world soldiers" required to serve the TMM's economic interest
by dealing in drugs, racketeering, and prostitution on the outside.

7. The members of the TMM are governed by a strict code of conduct that is enforceable
by serious injury or death. One can only become a member of the enterprise after being asked to join
by a “sponsor” or “padrino.” One who is not yet a member but who seeks membership is referred
to as a “prospecto.”

8. The TMM follows a paramilitary hierarchy. Its leadership is referred to as President
and Vice President. Serving under the President and Vice President are the Generals, Captains,
Lieutenants, Sergeants, and ranking members. The ranking members are soldiers commonly referred
to as "carnales." One General is considered a leader in the federal prison system while another is
considered leader in the state prison system. TMM has a parallel rank structure in the "free world."

9. This racketeering enterprise was directed by its leadership, also known as the “mesa.”
The leadership directed the activities of the soldiers who carried out the wishes of the leadership.

The TMM maintains chapters in most of the large cities in Texas.



10.  Every member is expected to be willing to sacrifice his life or take a life for the
benefit of the TMM. Once released from prison, all members are expected to remain in contact with
those still incarcerated and report to leadership in the free world. Members are also expected to send
money to incarcerated members.

11.  One of the organization’s principal activities and sources of income is trafficking in
illegal drugs. Its members obtain large quantities of narcotics and distribute them among its
membership and non members. The TMM also requires non members who distributed narcotics to
pay a “tax” for the privilege of selling narcotics. This tax is known as “the dime” or the “ten-
percent” or by the informal Spanish term for the dime, “el daime..” The organization imposes and
collects the tax on the proceeds of all illegal drug sales by non members. Failure to pay the tax could
result in serious bodily injury, robbery, or death. In exchange for paying the ten-percent tax, the
TMM provides the taxpayer protection from robbery, assistance with collecting drug debts, and a
degree of protection from competing drug dealers. The illegal drugs distributed by the enterprise,
which include Heroin, Methamphetamine, and Cocaine, are purchased, sold, and distributed in
interstate and foreign commerce.

PURPOSE OF THE ENTERPRISE
12.  The purposes of the Enterprise included the following:
a. To enrich its members through, among other things, drug trafficking;
b. To preserve and protect the power and the profits of the TMM through the use
of intimidation and violence; and
€. To purchase and sell firearms used to intimidate potential victims and commit

crimes.



MANNER AND MEANS OF THE ENTERPRISE

13.  Among the means and methods by which the defendants conducted and participated
in the conduct of the affairs of the Enterprise were the following:

14.  (“Defendants”) and members and associates of the enterprise, both known and
unknown, obtained money through the direct distribution of illegal drugs, including Heroin,
Methamphetamine, and Cocaine, and through imposing and collecting from drug distributors
extortion payments in exchange for authorization from the TMM to sell drugs.

15. (“Defendants”) and members and associates of the enterprise, both known and
unknown, obtained money through the direct distribution of firearms and explosive materials.

16.  (“Defendants™) and members and associates of the enterprise, both known and
unknown, protected the activities and the affairs of the enterprise from rival competing individuals,
gangs, and others through the use acts of violence and threats of violence;

17. (“Defendants”) and members and associates of the enterprise, both known and
unknown, expanded the activities and affairs of the enterprise by recruiting and initiating additional
members and associates into the enterprise and soliciting and procuring additional sources of illegal
drugs for the enterprise which were distributed for the profit of the enterprise.

18.  Defendants and other members and associates of the Enterprise, known and unknown,
would and did use mobile telephones, telephone text messages, and other modes of communication
todiscuss gang business including the commission of illegal activity in furtherance of the Enterprise.

19.  Defendants and members and associates of the Enterprise, both known and unknown,

held regular meetings to discuss gang rules and business including criminal activity.



COUNT ONE

Conspiracy to Possess with Intent to Distribute a Controlled Substance

From in or around October 2008, and continuing until and including the date of this
indictment, in the Southern District of Texas and elsewhere, and within the jurisdiction of this
Court,

Robert Arechiga, aka Robert
Valentin Ayala-Gutierrez, aka Pico
Enrique Bravo, aka Green, aka Eddie, aka Bow
Jose Cerda
Juan Deluna, aka Juanillo
Ruben Esparza, aka Popo
Francisco Galvan III, aka Pancho
Alexander Garcia, aka Malo
Eric Gomez, aka Valla
Rene Gonzalez, aka Beast
Adam Guzman, aka Ace
George Maldonado, aka Bird
Jorge Montemayor
Johnny Reyes, aka Johnny Be Good
Ricardo Sanchez, aka Ritchie, aka Joker
Juan Sarmientos, aka Juanillo, aka Juanito
Alvin Valadez, aka Ace
Armando Villarreal ITI
Ernesto Villarreal, aka Crash
Michael Villarreal, aka Little Wolf
Michael A. Villarreal
Gilbert Gonzalez

defendants herein, did knowingly and intentionally agree, combine, conspire, and confederate with

each other, and with others known and unknown to the Grand Jury, to possess with intent to

distribute a controlled substance. The overall scope of the conspiracy involved one (1) kilogram or

more of a mixture and substance containing a detectable amount of heroin, a Schedule I controlled

substance, five (5) kilograms or more of a mixture and substance containing a detectable amount of

a cocaine, a Schedule II controlled substance, and fifty (50) grams or more of methamphetamine, a
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Schedule IT controlled substance all in violation of Title 21, United States Code, Sections 846,

841(a)(1) and (b)(1)(A)D), (B)1)(A)(i), and (b)(1)(A)(vii).
COUNT TWO

Aiding and Abetting Possession with Intent to Distribute a Controlled Substance

In or around February 2010, and continuing through February 26, 2010, in the Southern
District of Texas, and elsewhere,
Valentin Ayala-Gutierrez, aka Pico
Francisco Galvan 1II, aka Pancho
Johnny Reyes aka Johnny Be Good
Juan Deluna, aka Juanillo
defendants herein, aiding, abetting, and assisting each other and others known and unknown to the
Grand Jury, did knowingly and intentionally possess with the intent to distribute a controlled
substance. This violation involved 100 grams or more of a mixture and substance containing a
detectable amount of heroin, a Schedule I controlled substance, in violation of Title 21, United States
Code, Sections 841(a)(1) and 841(b)(1)(B)(i) and Title 18, United States Code, Section 2.
COUNT THREE
Aiding and Abetting Possession with Intent to Distribute a Controlled Substance
In or around April 6, 2010, and continuing through April 8, 2010, in the Southern District
of Texas, and elsewhere,
Francisco Galvan III, aka Pancho
Rene Gonzalez, aka Beast
Juan Deluna, aka Juanillo

defendants herein aiding, abetting, and assisting each other and others known and unknown to the

Grand Jury, did knowingly and intentionally possess with the intent to distribute a controlled



substance. This violation involved 50 grams or more of methamphetamine, a Schedule I controlled
substance, in violation of Title 21, United States Code, Sections 841(a)(1) and 841(b)(1)(A)(viii),
and Title 18, United States Code, Section 2.
COUNT FOUR
Aiding and Abetting Possession with Intent to Distribute a Controlled Substance

In or around February 2010, and continuing through April 28, 2010, in the Southern District

of Texas, and elsewhere,
Francisco Galvan III, aka Pancho
Rene Gonzalez, aka Beast
Juan Deluna, aka Juanillo
defendants herein, aiding, abetting, and assisting each other and others known and unknown to the
Grand Jury, did knowingly and intentionally possess with the intent to distribute a controlled
substance. This violation involved 100 grams or more of a mixture and substance containing a
detectable amount of heroin, a Schedule I controlled substance, in violation of Title 21, United States
Code, Sections 841(a)(1) and 841(b)(1)(B)(I) and Title 18, United States Code, Section 2.
COUNT FIVE
Knowingly Providing Firearm to Convicted Felon
On or about June 21, 2010, in the Southern District of Texas, the defendant,
Michael Anthony Mares, aka Mikey

knowingly sold a .25 caliber Beretta Model 950 knowing and having reasonable cause to believe that
the purchaser had been convicted of a crime punishable by imprisonment for a term exceeding one

year, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 922(d) and 924(a)(2).



COUNT SIX
Possession with Intent to Distribute a Controlled Substance
In or around June 24, 2010, and continuing through June 26, 2010, in the Southern District
of Texas, and elsewhere,
Robert Arechiga, aka Robert
defendant herein, did knowingly and intentionally possess with the intent to distribute a controlled
substance. This violation involved 100 grams or more of a mixture and substance containing a
detectable amount of heroin, a Schedule I controlled substance, in violation of Title 21, United States
Code, Sections 841(a)(1) and 841(b)(1)(B)()-
COUNT SEVEN
Felon in Possession of a Firearm
On or about July 18, 2010, in the Southern District of Texas, the defendant,
Ricardo Sanchez, aka Ritchie, aka Joker
having been convicted of a crime punishable by imprisonment for a term exceeding one year did
knowingly possess in and affecting commerce a firearm to wit three (3) Glock .40 caliber pistols, one
(1) Ruger 9 mm pistol, one (1) Jimenez .380 caliber pistol, one (1) Ruger .223 rifle, and one (1)
Romanian AK 47 all of which had been shipped in interstate and foreign commerce, in violation of
Title 18, United States Code, Section 922(g)(1).
COUNT EIGHT

Felon in Possession of a Firearm

On or about July 20, 2010, in the Southern District of Texas, the defendant,

Robert Arechiga, aka Robert



having been convicted of a crime punishable by imprisonment for a term exceeding one year did
knowingly possess in and affecting commerce a firearm to wit one (1) Romarm AK 47 rifle and one
(1) ACC Internatinoal AK 47 rifle all of which had been shipped in interstate and foreign commerce,
in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 922(g)(1).
COUNT NINE
Aiding and Abetting Possession with Intent to Distribute a Controlled Substance
In or around August 2010, and continuing through August 12, 2010, in the Southern District
of Texas, and elsewhere,
Juan Sarmientos, aka Juanillo, aka Juanito
Rene Gonzalez, aka Beast
Adam Guzman, aka Ace
Alexander Garcia, aka Malo
defendants herein, aiding, abetting, and assisting each other and others known and unknown to the
Grand Jury, did knowingly and intentionally possess with the intent to distribute a controlled
substance. This violation involved 500 grams or more of a mixture and substance containing a
detectable amount of cocaine, a Schedule II controlled substance, in violation of Title 21, United
States Code, Sections 841(a)(1) and 841(b)(1)(B)(ii) and Title 18, United States Code, Section 2.
COUNT TEN

Felon in Possession of a Firearm

On or about September 17, 2010, in the Southern District of Texas, the defendant,
Juan Sarmientos, aka Juanillo, aka Juanito
having been convicted of a crime punishable by imprisonment for a term exceeding one year did

knowingly possess in and affecting commerce a firearm to wit one (1) Titan Tiger .38 revolver and
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one Norinco 7.62 caliber SKS rifle all of which had been shipped in interstate and foreign commerce,
in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 922(g)(1).
COUNT ELEVEN
Felon in Possession of a Firearm
On or about September 29, 2010, in the Southern District of Texas, the defendant,
Juan Sarmientos, aka Juanillo, aka Juanito
having been convicted of a crime punishable by imprisonment for a term exceeding one year did
knowingly possess in and affecting commerce a firearm to wit one (1) Kel Tec 5.56 caliber rifle and
fourteen (14) rounds of ammunition all of which had been shipped in interstate and foreign
commerce, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 922(g)(1).
COUNT TWELVE
Possession with Intent to Distribute a Controlled Substance
On or about September 29, 2010, in the Southern District of Texas, and elsewhere,
Juan Sarmientos, aka Juanillo, aka Juanito
defendant herein, did knowingly and intentionally possess with the intent to distribute a controlled
substance. This violation involved less than 560 grams of a mixture and substance containing a
detectable amount of cocaine, a Schedule II controlled substance, in violation of Title 21, United
States Code, Sections 841(a)(1) and 841(b)(1)(C).
COUNT THIRTEEN

Aiding and Abetting Possession with Intent to Distribute a Controlled Substance
In or around October 19, 2010, and continuing through October 27, 2010, in the Southern

District of Texas, and elsewhere,
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Ruben Esparza, aka Popo
Ernesto Villarreal, aka Crash

defendants herein, aiding, abetting, and assisting each other and others known and unknown to the
Grand Jury, did knowingly and intentionally possess with the intent to distribute a controlled
substance. This violation involved less than 100 grams or more of a mixture and substance
containing a detectable amount of heroin, a Schedule I controlled substance, in violation of Title 21,
United States Code, Sections 841(a)(1)and 841(b)(1)(C) and Title 18, United States Code, Section
2.

Q)_UN_IMEE!

Distribution of Exploesive Materials

In or around January 15, 2011, and continuing through January 28, 2011, in the Southern

District of Texas, and elsewhere

Adam Guzman, aka Ace
Tony Valdez, aka Tony

the defendants herein not being a licensee permittee under the provisions of Chapter 40 of Title 18
of the United States Code, knowingly distributed explosive materials to wit: 20 feet of detonation
cord to a person who was not a licensee permittee under the provisions of Chapter 40 of Title 18 of
the United States Code, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 842(a)(3)(B) and

844(a).
COUNT FIFTEEN

Aiding and Abetting Possession with Intent to Distribute a Controlled Substance

12



In or around July 2011, and continuing through July 16, 2011, in the Southern District of
Texas, and elsewhere,
Adam Guzman, aka Ace

George Maldonado, aka Bird
Jorge Montemayor

defendants herein, aiding, abetting, and assisting each other and others known and unknown to the
Grand Jury, did knowingly and intentionally possess with the intent to distribute a controlled
substance. This violation involved less than 500 grams or more of a mixture and substance
containing a detectable amount of cocaine, a Schedule II controlled substance, in violation of Title
21, United States Code, Sections 841(a)(1) and 841(b)(1)(C) and Title 18, United States Code,

Section 2.

COUNT SIXTEEN

Yiolent Crimes in Aid of Racketeering (Conspiracy to Commit Murder)

1. Paragraphs 1-19 of this Indictment are realleged and incorporated by reference as

though fully set forth herein.

2. From in or around July 2011 through on or about August 2011, in the Southern
District of Texas and elsewhere, for the purpose of gaining entrance to and maintaining and
increasing position in the TMM Enterprise, an enterprise engaged in racketeering activity,

Defendants

Alexander Garcia, aka Malo

Adam Guzman, aka Ace

13



and others known and unknown, intentionally and knowingly conspired to murder Thomas Delgado,

in violation of Texas Penal Code, Sections 19.02 and 15.02.
All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1959(a)(5).

COUNT SEVENTEEN

Knowingly Providing Firearm to Convicted Felon

On or about September 2, 2011, in the Southern District of Texas, the defendant,
Michael Anthony Mares, aka Mikey

knowingly sold a .40 calber Springfield Armory XD pistol knowing and having reasonable cause to
believe that the purchaser had been convicted of a crime punishable by imprisonment for a term

exceeding one year, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 922(d) and 924(a)(2).

COUNT EIGHTEEN
Felon in Possession of a Firearm

On or about September 1, 2011, in the Southern District of Texas, the defendant,

Alexander Garcia, aka Malo

having been convicted of a crime punishable by imprisonment for a term exceeding one year did
knowingly possess in and affecting commerce a firearm to wit one 12 gauge Mossburg shotgun and
one Bersa .380 caliber pistol all of which had been shipped in interstate and foreign commerce, in
violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 922(g)(1).

COUNT NINETEEN

Felon in Possession of a Firearm
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On or about October 4, 2011, in the Southern District of Texas, the defendant,

Alexander Garcia, aka Malo

having been convicted of a crime punishable by imprisonment for a term exceeding one year did
knowingly possess in and affecting commerce a firearm to wit one Lo Inc. AK 47 all of which had
been shipped in interstate and foreign commerce, in violation of Title 18, United States Code,
Section 922(g)(1).
COUNT TWENTY
Possession with Intent to Distribute a Controlled Substance
On or about August 17,2011, in the Southern District of Texas, and elsewhere,
Michael Villarreal, aka Little Wolf
defendant herein, did knowingly and intentionally possess with the intent to distribute a controlled
substance. This violation involved less than 500 grams of a mixture and substance containing a
detectable amount of cocaine, a Schedule II controlled substance, in violation of Title 21, United
States Code, Sections 841(a)(1) and 841(b)(1)}(C).
| COUNT TWENTY-ONE
Felon in Possession of a Firearm
On or about November 1, 2011, in the Southern District of Texas, and elsewhere,

Carlos Romero, aka Loc

having been convicted of a crime punishable by imprisonment for a term exceeding one year did
knowingly possess in and affecting commerce a firearm to wit one Smith and Wesson .38 caliber
pistol which had been shipped in interstate and foreign commerce, in violation of Title 18, United

States Code, Section 922(g)(1).
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COUNT TWENTY-TWO

Aiding and Abetting Possession with Intent to Distribute a Controlled Substance

In or around December 2011, and continuing through January 31, 2012, in the Southern
District of Texas, and elsewhere,
Eric Gomez, aka Valla
Enrique Bravo, aka Green, aka Eddie, aka Bow
Jose Cerda
Alvin Valadez, aka Ace
Michael A. Villarreal
Armando Villarreal III
Adam Guzman, aka Ace
Gilbert Gonzalez
defendants herein, aiding, abetting, and assisting each other and others known and unknown to the
Grand Jury, did knowingly and intentionally possess with the intent to distribute a controlled
substance. This violation involved one (1) or more kilograms of a mixture and substance containing
a detectable amount of heroin, a Schedule I controlled substance, in violation of Title 21, United
States Code, Sections 841(a)(1) and 841(b)(1)(A){) and Title 18, United States Code, Section 2.
NOTICE OF CRIMINAL FORFEITURE
(21 U.S.C.§ 853 and 18 USC § 982 )
Pursuant to Title 21, United States Code, Section 853, as a result of the commission
of a violation of Title 21, United States Code, Sections 846, 841(a)(1), 841(b)(1)(A)(ii) and
841(b)(1)(A)(viii), notice is given that the defendants:

Robert Arechiga, aka Robert
Valentin Ayala-Gutierrez, aka Pico
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Enrique Bravo, aka Green, aka Eddie, aka Bow
Jose Cerda
Juan Deluna, aka Juanillo
Ruben Esparza, aka Popo
Francisco Galvan III, aka Pancho
Alexander Garcia, aka Malo
Eric Gomez, aka Valla
Rene Gonzalez, aka Beast
Adam Guzman, aka Ace
George Maldonado, aka Bird
Michael Anthony Mares, aka Mikey
Jorge Montemayor,

Johnny Reyes, aka Johnny Be Good
Carlos Romero, aka Loc
Ricardo Sanchez, aka Ritchie, aka Joker
Juan Sarmientos, aka Juanillo, aka Juanito
Alvin Valadez, aka Ace
Tony Valdez, aka Tony
Armando Villarreal III
Ernesto Villarreal, aka Crash
Michael Villarreal, aka Little Wolf
Michael A. Villarreal
Gilbert Gonzalez

shall forfeit to the United States of America-
1. any property constituting, or derived from, any proceeds obtained, directly or
indirectly, as the result of such violation; and
2. any property used or intended to be used, in any manner or part, to commit, or to
facilitate the commission of, such violations.
In the event that the property which is subject to forfeiture to the United States, as a result
of any act or omission of the defendant:
(1)  cannot be located upon exercise of due diligence;
(2)  has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the Court;

(3)  has been transferred or sold to, or deposited with a third party;
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(4)  has been substantially diminished in value; or

(5)  hasbeen commingled with other property which cannot be divided without difficulty;
itis the intent of the United States to seck forfeiture of any other property of the defendant up to the
value of such property, pursuant to 21 U.S.C. §853(p).

Moreover, pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 924(d)(1), and Title 28, United
States Code, Section 2461(C), the United States of America hereby gives notice that all firearms and
ammunition involved in, or used in the commission of the offense in violation of Title 18, United
States Code, Section 922(g)(1) charged in Counts 4, 6, 7, 8,9, 10, 13, 16, 17, and 18 is subject to
forfeiture, including, but not limited to, the following:

.25 caliber Beretta pistol

Norinco SKS .762 Rifle and one (1) round of ammunition
Three (3) Glock .40 caliber pistols

One (1) Ruger .9 mm pistol

One (1) Jimenez .380 caliber pistol

One (1) Ruger .223 rifle

One (1) Romarn AK 47

One (1) Romarn AK 47 rifle

One (1) Acc International AK 47 rifle

One (1) Titan Tiger .38 revolver

One (1) Kel Tec PLR 16, 5.56 rifle and fourteen (14) rounds of ammunition
Approximately 25 feet of detonation cord

One (1) .40 caliber Springfield XD pistol

One (1) 12 gauge Mossburg shotgun

One (1) Bersa .380 pistol

One (1) Lo Inc. AK 47

A TRUE BILL:

ORIGINAL SIGNATURE ON FILE
FOREPERSON OF THE GRAND JURY
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THE GRAND JURY CHARGES:
INTRODUCTION
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At various times and material to this indictment:

1. Robert Arechiga, aka Robert; Valentin Ayala-Gutierrez, aka Pico; Enrique Bravo, aka
Green, aka Eddie, aka Bow; Jose Cerda; Juan Deluna, aka Juanillo; Ruben Esparza, aka Popo;
Francisco Galvan III, aka Pancho; Alexander Gércia, aka Malo; Eric Gomez, aka Valla; Rene
Gonzalez, aka Beast; Adam Guzman, aka Ace; George Maldonado, aka Bird; Michael Anthony
Mares, aka Mikey; Jorge Montemayor; Johnny Reyes, aka Johnny Be Good; Carlos Romero, aka
Loc; Ricardo Sanchez, aka Ritchie, aka Joker; Juan Sarmientos, aka Juanillo, aka Juanito; Alvin
Valadez, aka Ace; Tony Valdez, aka Tony; Armando Villarreal III; Ernesto Villarreal, aka Crash;
Michael Villarreal, aka Little Wolf; Michael A. Villarreal; Gilbert Gonzalez and others, were
members and associates of a criminal organization in Houston, Texas known as the Texas Mexican
Mafia (“TMM?”), a prison gang whose members and associates engaged in drug trafficking and
conspiracy to do the same within the Southern District of Texas and elsewhere.

2. The TMM, including its leadership, members, and associates, constituted an “enterprise”
as defined in Title 18, United States Code, Section 1959(b)(2), that is, a group of individuals
associated in fact that was engaged in, and the activities of which affected, interstate and foreign
commerce. The enterprise constituted an ongoing organization whose members functioned as a
continuing unit for a common purpose of achieving the objectives of the enterprise.

3. The TMM enterprise, through its members and associates, engaged in racketeering activity
as defined in Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1959(b)(1) and 1961(1), that is, acts involving
conspiracy to commit murder in violation of Texas Penal Law and acts involving trafficking in
controlled substances in violation of Title 21, United States Code, Sections 841 and 846.

4, The TMM was formed in the early 1980’s by inmates incarcerated in the Texas state



prison system. Its original members banded together behind bars to protect one another from the
violence of incarcerated non-members and to engage more effectively in organized criminal activity.
This criminal activity included drug trafficking.

5. The original members of the TMM were largely from San Antonio, Texas. The TMM
drafted a “constitution” and declared San Antonio as its “Capital.”

6. The TMM's written constitution outlines all aspects of its criminal organization;
specifically the TMM "shall deal in drugs, contract killings, prostitution, large-scale robbery,
gambling, weapons, and everything imaginable." The constitution also stipulates that members
released from prison become "free world soldiers" required to serve the TMM's economic interest
by dealing in drugs, racketeering, and prostitution on the outside.

7. The members of the TMM are governed by a strict code of conduct that is enforceable
by serious injury or death. One can only become a member of the enterprise after being asked to join
by a “sponsor” or “padrino.” One who is not yet a member but who seeks membership is referred
to as a “prospecto.”

8. The TMM follows a paramilitary hierarchy. Its leadership is referred to as President
and Vice President. Serving under the President and Vice President are the Generals, Captains,
Lieutenants, Sergeants, and ranking members. The ranking members are soldiers commonly referred
to as "carnales." One General is considered a leader in the federal prison system while another is
considered leader in the state prison system. TMM has a parallel rank structure in the "free world."

9. This racketeering enterprise was directed by its leadership, also known as the “mesa.”
The leadership directed the activities of the soldiers who carried out the wishes of the leadership.

The TMM maintains chapters in most of the large cities in Texas.



10.  Every member is expected to be willing to sacrifice his life or take a life for the
benefit of the TMM. Once released from prison, all members are expected to remain in contact with
those still incarcerated and report to leadership in the free world. Members are also expected to send
money to incarcerated members.

11.  One of the organization’s principal activities and sources of income is trafficking in
illegal drugs. Its members obtain large quantities of narcotics and distribute them among its
membership and non members. The TMM also requires non members who distributed narcotics to
pay a “tax” for the privilege of selling narcotics. This tax is known as “the dime” or the “ten-
percent” or by the informal Spanish term for the dime, “el daime..” The organization imposes and
collects the tax on the proceeds of all illegal drug sales by non members. Failure to pay the tax could
result in serious bodily injury, robbery, or death. In exchange for paying the ten-percent tax, the
TMM provides the taxpayer protection from robbery, assistance with collecting drug debts, and a
degree of protection from competing drug dealers. The illegal drugs distributed by the enterprise,
which include Heroin, Methamphetamine, and Cocaine, are purchased, sold, and distributed in
interstate and foreign commerce.

PURPOSE OF THE ENTERPRISE
12. The pﬁrposes of the Enterprise included the following:
a. To enrich its members through, among other things, drug trafficking;
b. To preserve and protect the power and the profits of the TMM through the use
of intimidation and violence; and
e. To purchase and sell firearms used to intimidate potential victims and commit

crimes.



MANNER AND MEANS OF THE ENTERPRISE

13.  Among the means and methods by which the defendants conducted and participated
in the conduct of the affairs of the Enterprise were the following:

14.  (“Defendants”) and members and associates of the enterprise, both known and
unknown, obtained money through the direct distribution of illegal drugs, including Heroin,
Methamphetamine, and Cocaine, and through imposing and collecting from drug distributors
extortion payments in exchange for authorization from the TMM to sell drugs.

15. (“Defendants”) and members and associates of the enterprise, both known and
unknown, obtained money through the direct distribution of firearms and explosive materials.

16.  (“Defendants™) and members and associates of the enterprise, both known and
unknown, protected the activities and the affairs of the enterprise from rival competing individuals,
gangs, and others through the use acts of violence and threats of violence;

17.  (“Defendants”) and members and associates of the enterprise, both known and
unknown, expanded the activities and affairs of the enterprise by recruiting and initiating additional
members and associates into the enterprise and soliciting and procuring additional sources of illegal
drugs for the enterprise which were distributed for the profit of the enterprise.

18.  Defendants and other members and associates of the Enterprise, known and unknown,
would and did use mobile telephones, telephone text messages, and other modes of communication
to discuss gang business including the commission of illegal activity in furtherance of the Enterprise.

19.  Defendants and members and associates of the Enterprise, both known and unknown,

held regular meetings to discuss gang rules and business including criminal activity.



COUNT ONE

Conspiracy to Possess with Intent to Distribute a Controlled Substance

From in or around October 2008, and continuing until and including the date of this
indictment, in the Southern District of Texas and elsewhere, and within the jurisdiction of this
Court,

Robert Arechiga, aka Robert
Valentin Ayala-Gutierrez, aka Pico
Enrique Bravo, aka Green, aka Eddie, aka Bow
Jose Cerda
Juan Deluna, aka Juanillo
Ruben Esparza, aka Popo
Francisco Galvan III, aka Pancho
Alexander Garcia, aka Malo
Eric Gomez, aka Valla
Rene Gonzalez, aka Beast
Adam Guzman, aka Ace
George Maldonado, aka Bird
Jorge Montemayor
Johnny Reyes, aka Johnny Be Good
Ricardo Sanchez, aka Ritchie, aka Joker
Juan Sarmientos, aka Juanillo, aka Juanito
Alvin Valadez, aka Ace
Armando Villarréal 11
Ernesto Villarreal, aka Crash
Michael Villarreal, aka Little Wolf
Michael A. Villarreal
Gilbert Gonzalez

defendants herein, did knowingly and intentionally agree, combine, conspire, and confederate with

each other, and with others known and unknown to the Grand Jury, to possess with intent to

distribute a controlled substance. The overall scope of the conspiracy involved one (1) kilogram or

more of a mixture and substance containing a detectable amount of heroin, a Schedule I controlled

substance, five (5) kilograms or more of a mixture and substance containing a detectable amount of

a cocaine, a Schedule II controlled substance, and fifty (50) grams or more of methamphetamine, a
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Schedule II controlled substance all in violation of Title 21, United States Code, Sections 846,

841(a)(1) and (bX(1)(AXD, (b)(1)(A)(i), and (b)(1)(A)(viii)-
COUNT TWO

Aiding and Abetting Possession with Intent to Distribute a Controlled Substance

In or around February 2010, and continuing through February 26, 2010, in the Southern
District of Texas, and elsewhere,
Valentin Ayala-Gutierrez, aka Pico
Francisco Galvan 111, aka Pancho
Johnny Reyes aka Johnny Be Good
Juan Deluna, aka Juanillo
defendants herein, aiding, abetting, and assisting each other and others known and unknown to the
Grand Jury, did knowingly and intentionally possess with the intent to distribute a controlled
substance. This violation involved 100 grams or more of a mixture and substance containing a
detectable amount of heroin, a ScheduleI controlled substance, in violation of Title 21, United States
Code, Sections 841(a)(1) and 841(b)(1)(B)(i) and Title 18, United States Code, Section 2.
COUNT THREE
Aiding and Abetting Possession with Intent to Distribute a Controlled Substance
In or around April 6, 2010, and continuing through April 8, 2010, in the Southern District
of Texas, and elsewhere,
Francisco Galvan III, aka Pancho
Rene Gonzalez, aka Beast
Juan Deluna, aka Juanillo

defendants herein aiding, abetting, and assisting each other and others known and unknown to the

Grand Jury, did knowingly and intentionally possess with the intent to distribute a controlled



substance. This violation involved 50 grams or more of methamphetamine, a Schedule I controlled
substance, in violation of Title 21, United States Code, Sections 841(a)(1) and 841(b)(1)(A)(viii),
and Title 18, United States Code, Section 2.
COUNT FOUR
Aiding and Abetting Possession with Intent to Distribute a Controlled Substance

In or around February 2010, and continuing through April 28, 2010, in the Southern District

of Texas, and elsewhere,
Francisco Galvan III, aka Pancho
Rene Gonzalez, aka Beast
Juan Deluna, aka Juanillo
defendants herein, aiding, abetting, and assisting each other and others known and unknown to the
Grand Jury, did knowingly and intentionally possess with the intent to distribute a controlled
substance. This violation involved 100 grams or more of a mixture and substance containing a
detectable amount of heroin, a Schedule I controlled substance, in violation of Title 21, United States
Code, Sections 841(a)(1) and 841(b)(1)(B)(I) and Title 18, United States Code, Section 2.
COUNT FIVE
Knowingly Providing Firearmto Convicted Felon
On or about June 21, 2010, in the Southern District of Texas, the defendant,
Michael Anthony Mares, aka Mikey

knowingly sold a.25 caliber Beretta Model 950 knowing and having reasonable cause to believe that
the purchaser had been convicted of a crime punishable by imprisonment for a term exceeding one

year, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 922(d) and 924(a)(2).



COUNT SIX
Possession with Intent to Distribute a Controlled Substance

In or around June 24, 2010, and continuing through June 26, 2010, in the Southern District

of Texas, and elsewhere,
Robert Arechiga, aka Robert
defendant herein, did knowingly and intentionally possess with the intent to distribute a controlled
substance. This violation involved 100 grams or more of a mixture and substance containing a
detectable amount of heroin, a Schedule I controlled substance, in violation of Title 21, United States
Code, Sections 841(a)(1) and 841(b)(1)(B)(i)-
COUNT SEVEN
Felon in Possession of a Firearm
On or about July 18, 2010, in the Southern District of Texas, the defendant,
Ricardo Sanchez, aka Ritchie, aka Joker
having been convicted of a crime punishable by imprisonment for a term exceeding one year did
knowingly possess in and affecting commerce a firearm to wit three (3) Glock .40 caliber pistols, one
(1) Ruger 9 mm pistol, one (1) Jimenez .380 caliber pistol, one (1) Ruger .223 rifle, and one (1)
Romanian AK 47 all of which had been shipped in interstate and foreign commerce, in violation of
Title 18, United States Code, Section 922(g)(1).
COUNT EIGHT
Felon in Possession of a Firearm
On or about July 20, 2010, in the Southern District of Texas, the defendant,

Robert Arechiga, aka Robert



having been convicted of a crime punishable by imprisonment for a term exceeding one year did
knowingly possess in and affecting commerce a firearm to wit one (1) Romarm AK 47 rifle and one
(1) ACC Internatinoal AK 47 rifle all of which had been shipped in interstate and foreign commerce,
in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 922(g)(1).
COUNT NINE
Aiding and Abetting Possession with Intent to Distribute a Controlled Substance

In or around August 2010, and continuing through August 12, 2010, in the Southern District

of Texas, and elsewhere,
Juan Sarmientos, aka Juanillo, aka Juanito
Rene Gonzalez, aka Beast
Adam Guzman, aka Ace
Alexander Garcia, aka Malo
defendants herein, aiding, abetting, and assisting each other and others known and unknown to the
Grand Jury, did knowingly and intentionally possess with the intent to distribute a controlled
substance. This violation involved 500 grams or more of a mixture and substance containing a
detectable amount of cocaine, a Schedule II controlled substance, in violation of Title 21, United
States Code, Sections 841(a)(1) and 841(b)(1)(B)(ii) and Title 18, United States Code, Section 2.
COUNT TEN
Felon in Possession ot; ‘a -l;"irearm
On or about September 17, 2010, in the Southern District of Texas, the defendant,
Juan Sarmientos, aka Juanillo, aka Juanito

having been convicted of a crime punishable by imprisonment for a term exceeding one year did

knowingly possess in and affecting commerce a firearm to wit one (1) Titan Tiger .38 revolver and
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one Norinco 7.62 caliber SKS rifle all of which had been shipped in interstate and foreign commerce,
in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 922(g)(1).
COUNT ELEVEN
Felon in fossession of a Firearm
On or about September 29, 2010, in the Southern District of Texas, the defendant,
Juan Sarmientos, aka Juanillo, aka Juanito
having been convicted of a crime punishable by imprisonment for a term exceeding one year did
knowingly possess in and affecting commerce a firearm to wit one (1) Kel Tec 5.56 caliber rifle and
fourteen (14) rounds of ammunition all of which had been shipped in interstate and foreign
commerce, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 922(g)(1).
COUNT TWELVE
Possession with Intent to Distribute a Controlled Substance
On or about September 29, 2010, in the Southern District of Texas, and elsewhere,
Juan Sarmientos, aka Juanillo, aka Juanito
defendant herein, did knowingly and intentionally possess with the intent to distribute a controlled
substance. This violation involved less than 500 grams of a mixture and substance containing a
detectable amount of cocaine, a Schedule II controlled substance, in violation of Title 21, United
States Code, Sections 841(a)(1) and 841(b)(1)(C).
COUNT THIRTEEN
Aiding and Abetting Possession with Intent to Distribute a Controlled Substance
In or around October 19, 2010, and continuing through October 27, 2010, in the Southern

District of Texas, and elsewhere,

11



Ruben Esparza, aka Popo
Ernesto Villarreal, aka Crash

defendants herein, aiding, abetting, and assisting each other and others known and unknown to the
Grand Jury, did knowingly and intentionally possess with the intent to distribute a controlled
substance. This violation involved less than 100 grams or more of a mixture and substance
containing a detectable amount of heroin, a Schedule I controlled substance, in violation of Title 21,
United States Code, Sections 841(a)(1) and 841(b)(1)(C) and Title 18, United States Code, Section
2.
COUNT FOURTEEN
Distribution of Explosive Materials
In or around January 15, 2011, and continuing through January 28, 2011, in the Southern

District of Texas, and elsewhere

Adam Guzman, aka Ace
Tony Valdez, aka Tony

the defendants herein not being a licensee permittee under the provisions of Chapter 40 of Title 18
of the United States Code, knowingly distributed explosive materials to wit: 20 feet of detonation

cord to a person who was not a licensee permittee under the provisions of Chapter 40 of Title 18 of

the United States Code, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 842(a)(3)(B) and
844(a).

COUNT FIFTEEN

Aiding and Abetting Possession with Intent to Distribute a Controlled Substance
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In or around July 2011, and continuing through July 16, 2011, in the Southern District of
Texas, and elsewhere,
Adam Guzman, aka Ace

George Maldonado, aka Bird
Jorge Montemayor

defendants herein, aiding, abetting, and assisting each other and others known and unknown to the
Grand Jury, did knowingly and intentionally possess with the intent to distribute a controlled
substance. This violation involved less than 500 grams or more of a mixture and substance
containing a detectable amount of cocaine, a Schedule II controlled substance, in violation of Title
21, United States Code, Sections 841(a)(1) and 841(b)(1)(C) and Title 18, United States Code,

Section 2.
COUNT SIXTEEN

Violent Cril.nes in Aid of Racketeering (Conspiracy to Commit Murder)

1. Paragraphs 1-19 of this Indictment are realleged and incorporated by reference as

though fully set forth herein.

2. From in or around July 2011 through on or about August 2011, in the Southern
District of Texas and elsewhere, for the phrpose of gaining entrance to and maintaining and

increasing position in the TMM Enterprise, an enterprise engaged in racketeering activity,

Defendants

Alexander Garcia, aka Malo

Adam Guzman, aka Ace
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and others known and unknown, intentionally and knowingly conspired to murder Thomas Delgado,

in violation of Texas Penal Code, Sections 19.02 and 15.02.
All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1959(a)(5).
COUNT SEVENTEEN

Knowingly Providing Firearm to Convicted Felon

On or about September 2, 2011, in the Southern District of Texas, the defendant,
Michael Anthony Mares, aka Mikey

knowingly sold a .40 calber Springfield Armory XD pisfol knowing and having reasonable cause to
believe that the purchaser had been convicted of a crime punishable by imprisonment for a term

exceeding one year, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 922(d) and 924(a)(2).

COUNT EIGHTEEN

Felon in Possession of a Firearm
On or about September 1, 2011, in the Southern District of Texas, the defendant,

Alexander Garcia, aka Malo

having been convicted of a crime punishable by imprisonment for a term exceeding one year did
knowingly possess in and affecting commerce a firearm to wit one 12 gauge Mossburg shotgun and
one Bersa .380 caliber pistol all of which had been shipped in interstate and foreign commerce, in
violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 922(g)(1).
COUNT NINETEEN
Felon in Possession of a Firearm
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On or about October 4, 2011, in the Southern District of Texas, the defendant,

Alexander Garcia, aka Malo

having been convicted of a crime punishable by imprisonment for a term exceeding one year did
knowingly possess in and affecting commerce a firearm to wit one Lo Inc. AK 47 all of which had
been shipped in interstate and foreign commerce, in violation of Title 18, United States Code,
Section 922(g)(1).
COUNT TWENTY
Possession with Intent to Distribute a Controlled Substance
On or about August 17,2011, in the Southern District of Texas, and elsewhere,
Michael Villarreal, aka Little Wolf
defendant herein, did knowingly and intentionally possess with the intent to distribute a controlled
substance. This violation involved less than 500 grams of a mixture and substance containing a
detectable amount of cocaine, a Schedule II controlled substance, in violation of Title 21, United
States Code, Sections 841(a)(1) and 841(b)(1)(C).
COUNT TWENTY-ONE
Felon in Possession of a Firearm
On or about November 1, 2011, in the Southern District of Texas, and elsewhere,

Carlos Romero, aka Loc

having been convicted of a crime punishable by imprisonment for a term exceeding one year did
knowingly possess in and affecting commerce a firearm to wit one Smith and Wesson .38 caliber
pistol which had been shipped in interstate and foreign commerce, in violation of Title 18, United

States Code, Section 922(g)(1).
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COUNT TWENTY-TWO

Aiding and Abetting Possession with Intent to Distribute a Controlled Substance

In or around December 2011, and continuing through January 31, 2012, in the Southern
District of Texas, and elsewhere,
Eric Gomez, aka Valla
Enrique Bravo, aka Green, aka Eddie, aka Bow
Jose Cerda
Alvin Valadez, aka Ace
Michael A. Villarreal
Armando Villarreal II1
Adam Guzman, aka Ace
Gilbert Gonzalez
defendants herein, aiding, abetting, and assisting each other and others known and unknown to the
Grand Jury, did knowingly and intentionally possess with the intent to distribute a controlled
substance. This violation involved one (1) or more kilograms of a mixture and substance containing
a detectable amount of heroin, a Schedule I controlled substance, in violation of Title 21, United
States Code, Sections 841(a)(1) and 841(b)(1)(A)(I) and Title 18, United States Code, Section 2.
NOTICE OF CRIMINAL FORFEITURE
(21 U.S.C.§ 853 and 18 USC § 982 )
Pursuant to Title 21, United States Code, Section 853, as a result of the commission
of a violation of Title 21, United States Code, Sections 846, 841(a)(1), 841(b)(1)(A)(ii) and
841(b)(1)(A)(viii), notice is given that the defendants:

Robert Arechiga, aka Robert
Valentin Ayala-Gutierrez, aka Pico
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Enrique Bravo, aka Green, aka Eddie, aka Bow
Jose Cerda
Juan Deluna, aka Juanillo
Ruben Esparza, aka Popo
Francisco Galvan III, aka Pancho
Alexander Garcia, aka Malo
Eric Gomez, aka Valla
Rene Gonzalez, aka Beast
Adam Guzman, aka Ace
George Maldonado, aka Bird
Michael Anthony Mares, aka Mikey
Jorge Montemayor,

Johnny Reyes, aka Johnny Be Good
Carlos Romero, aka Loc
Ricardo Sanchez, aka Ritchie, aka Joker
Juan Sarmientos, aka Juanillo, aka Juanito
Alvin Valadez, aka Ace
Tony Valdez, aka Tony
Armando Villarreal ITI
Ernesto Villarreal, aka Crash
Michael Villarreal, aka Little Wolf
Michael A. Villarreal
Gilbert Gonzalez

shall forfeit to the United States of America-
1. any property constituting, or derived from, any proceeds obtained, directly or
indirectly, as the result of such violation; and
2. any property used or intended to be used, in any manner or part, to commit, or to
facilitate the commission of, such violations.
In the event that the property which is subject to forfeiture to the United States, as a result
of any act or omission of the defendant:
(1)  cannot be located upon exercise of due diligence;
(2)  has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the Court;

(3)  has been transferred or sold to, or deposited with a third party;
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(4)  has been substantially diminished in value; or

(5)  hasbeencommingled with other property which cannot be divided without difficulty;
itis the intent of the United States to seek forfeiture of any other property of the defendant up to the
value of such property, pursuant to 21 U.S.C. §853(p).

Moreover, pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 924(d)(1), and Title 28, United
States Code, Section 2461(C), the United States of America hereby gives notice that all firearms and
ammunition involved in, or used in the commission of the offense in violation of Title 18, United
States Code, Section 922(g)(1) charged in Counts 4, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 13, 16, 17, and 18 is subject to
forfeiture, including, but not limited to, the following:

.25 caliber Beretta pistol

Norinco SKS .762 Rifle and one (1) round of ammunition
Three (3) Glock .40 caliber pistols

One (1) Ruger .9 mm pistol

One (1) Jimenez .380 caliber pistol

One (1) Ruger .223 rifle

One (1) Romarn AK 47

One (1) Romarn AK 47 rifle

One (1) Acc International AK 47 rifle

One (1) Titan Tiger .38 revolver

One (1) Kel Tec PLR 16, 5.56 rifle and fourteen (14) rounds of ammunition
Approximately 25 feet of detonation cord

One (1) .40 caliber Springfield XD pistol

One (1) 12 gauge Mossburg shotgun

One (1) Bersa .380 pistol

One (1) Lo Inc. AK 47

A TRUE BILL:

ORIGINAL SIGNATURE ON FILE
FOREPERSON OF THE GRAND JURY
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